IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

No. 21-0098

KENDALL J. MEADE,
individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated,
Plaintiff

vs.

PETER S. CHRISTIE, STEPHEN A. CRANE, JONATHAN R.
FLETCHER, and GRETCHEN H. TEGELER,
Defendants.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR POLK COUNTY
THE HONORABLE LAWRENCE P. MCLELLAN, PRESIDING

APPELLANTS' BRIEF

Michael W. Thrall, AT0007975
Mark C. Dickinson, AT0001997
Lynn C. Herndon, AT10014047
NYEMASTER GOODE, P.C.
700 Walnut, Suite 1600
Des Moines, Iowa 50309
Telephone: (515) 283-3100
Facsimile: (515) 283-8045
E-mail: mwt@nyemaster.com
mcd@nyemaster.com
lherndon@nyemaster.com

**ATTORNEYS FOR INDEPENDENT
DIRECTOR DEFENDANTS-
APPELLANTS**

ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Does Iowa’s standard for derivative shareholder claims – *i.e.*, that a shareholder who sues a director for breach of fiduciary duty resulting in damage to the value of the corporation has no claim for damages except as a derivative claim – apply in the merger context, particularly given the Legislature’s adoption of Iowa Code § 490.830 (requiring directors to act “in the best interests *of the corporation*”) and a constituency statute (the “Constituency Statute”), Iowa Code § 490.1108A (permitting directors to consider a variety of stakeholder interests when evaluating a merger)?

Cases

Agostino v. Hicks, No. Civ. A. 20020–NC, 2004 WL 443987 (Del. Ch. March 11, 2004)

Ahrens v. Ahrens Agric. Indus. Co., No. 14–0564, 2015 WL 2089372 (Iowa Ct. App. May 6, 2015)

Baur v. Baur Farms, Inc., 832 N.W.2d 663 (Iowa 2013)

Baxter v. Syntroleum, CJ-2013-5807 (Tulsa Cty. Okla. Dist. Jan. 14, 2016)

City of Riviera Beach Gen. Employees Ret. Sys. v. Mylan N.V., No. 2:15-CV-821, 2016 WL 4367549 (W.D. Pa. May 10, 2016)

Cunningham v. Kartridg Pak Co., 332 N.W.2d 881 (Iowa 1983)

DCG & T ex rel. Battaglia/Ira v. Knight, 68 F. Supp. 3d 579 (E.D. Va. 2014)

Engstrand v. W. Des Moines State Bank, 516 N.W.2d 797 (Iowa 1994)

Ezzone v. Riccardi, 525 N.W.2d 388 (Iowa 1994)

Int'l Brotherhood of Elec. Workers Local No. 129 Benefit Fund v. Tucci, 70 N.E.3d 918 (Mass. 2017)

Jarackas v. Applied Signal Technology, Inc., No. 111-cv-19643, 2012 WL 9764184 (Cal. Super. Mar. 15, 2012)

Kadel v. Dayton Superior Corp., 731 N.E.2d 1244 (Ohio C. Pl. Montgomery Cty. 2000)

Kelly v. Englehart Corp., Nos. 1-241, 99-1807, 2001 WL 855600 (Iowa App. July 31, 2001)

Kentucky State Dist. Council of Carpenters Pension Tr. Fund v. Myers, No. 4:10-CV-00332, 2010 WL 11483954 (S.D. Iowa Sept. 9, 2010)

Kurth v. Van Horn, 380 N.W.2d 693 (Iowa 1986)

May v. Coffey, 967 A.2d 495 (Conn. 2009)

Meier v. Senecaut, 641 N.W.2d 532 (Iowa 2002)

Parnes v. Bally Ent. Corp., 722 A.2d 1243 (Del. 1999)

RBC Capital Markets v. Jervis, 129 A.3d 816 (Del. 2015)

Redeker v. Litt, No. 04-0637, 2005 WL 1224697 (Iowa Ct. App. May 25, 2005)

Revlon, Inc. v. MacAndrews & Forbes Holdings, 506 A.2d 173 (Del. 1986)

Rieff v. Evans, 630 N.W.2d 278 (Iowa 2001)

RPC Liquidation v. Iowa Dep't of Transp., 717 N.W.2d 317 (Iowa 2006)

Shepard v. Employers Mutual Casualty Company, 998 F.3d 330 (8th Cir. 2021)

Shumate v. Drake Univ., 846 N.W.2d 503 (Iowa 2014)

Simmons v. Miller, 544 S.E.2d 666, 675 (Va. 2001)

Somers ex rel. EGL, Inc. v. Crane, 295 S.W.3d 5 (Tex. App. Ct. 2009)

Sound Infiniti, Inc. v. Snyder, 237 P.3d 241 (Wash. 2010)

Spears v. Com Link, Inc., No. 12–1223, 2013 WL 3457171 (Iowa Ct. App. July 10, 2013)

Sullivan v. Actel Corp., No. 110-CV-184257, 2012 WL 9944634 (Cal. Super. Mar. 08, 2012)

Taylor v. Hogan, No. 12–0898, 2013 WL 1749777 (Iowa Ct. App. Apr. 24, 2013)

Tooley v. Donaldson, Lufkin & Jenrette, Inc., 845 A.2d 1031 (Del. 2004)

Walters v. Kautzky, 680 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2004)

Weltzin v. Cobank, ACB, 633 N.W.2d 290 (Iowa 2001)

Statutes

Iowa Code § 490.742

Iowa Code § 490.801(2)

Iowa Code § 490.830

Iowa Code § 490.1108A.1

Iowa Code § 490.1301, *et seq.*

Iowa Code § 490.1340.1

2016 Md. Laws Ch. 170, § 1

S.C. Code § 33-8-300(a)(3)

Rules

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.279

Other Authorities

Daniel S. Kleinberger, *Direct Versus Derivative and the Law of Limited Liability Companies*, 58 Baylor L. Rev. 63 (2006)

Richard P. Wolfe, *Minority Shares Under The Louisiana Business Corporation Act: Expulsion, Oppression, And Fiduciary Duty*, 64 Loy. L. Rev. 25 (2018)

J.B. Heaton, *What Injures A Corporation?*, 73 Bus. Law. 1031 (2018)

Jonathan D. Springer, “*Corporate Constituency Statutes: Hollow Hopes and False Fears*” 1999 Ann. Surv. Am. L. 85 (1999)

Matthew G. Doré, “Duties and Liabilities of an Iowa Corporate Director,” 50 Drake L. Rev. 207 (2002)

Matthew G. Doré, Iowa Practice Series, Vol. 6: Business Organizations (Thomson West, Nov. 2020 update) § 39:4

Ronald J. Colombo, “Duty of Care,” in Law of Corp. Offs. & Dirs., § 2:8 (Wolters Kluwer, 2020-2021 update)

Uniform Commercial Code § 8-102(17), Off. Cmt. 17.

- II. Does Iowa’s director shield statute (the “Director Shield Statute”), Iowa Code § 490.202(2)(d) (which authorizes the articles of incorporation to exempt corporate directors from monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty), require shareholders to plead an exception to the statute in their complaint, when Iowa Code § 490.831(1)(a)(1)(a) requires such shareholders to “establish[]” that the Director Shield Statute does not “preclude[] liability”?

Cases

Chur v. The Eighth Judicial District Court, 458 P.3d 336 (Nev. 2020)

Cunningham v. Kartridg Pak Co., 332 N.W.2d 881 (Iowa 1983)

Data Key Partners v. Permira Advisers LLC, 849 N.W.2d 693 (Wis. 2014)

Gagliardi v. TriFoods Int'l, Inc., 683 A.2d 1049 (Del. Ch. 1996)

Hawkeye Foodservice Distrib., Inc. v. Iowa Educators Corp., 812 N.W.2d 600 (Iowa 2012)

In re American Cap., Ltd. S'holder Litig., No. 422598-V (Md. Cir. Ct., Mont. Cty., Feb. 22, 2018)

In re Estate of Kneeps, 70 N.W.2d 539 (Iowa 1955)

In re Parametric Sound Corp. S'holders Litig., No. A-13-686890-B (Nev. 8th Jud. Dist., Clark Cty., filed Aug. 13, 2013)

In re Walgreen Co. S'holder Litig., 832 F.3d 718 (7th Cir. 2016)

In re Walt Disney Co. Deriv. Litig., 906 A.2d 27 (Del. 2006)

In re ZAGG Inc. S'holder Derivative Action, 826 F.3d 1222 (10th Cir. 2016)

Lyondell Chem. Co. v. Ryan, 970 A.2d 235 (Del. 2009)

Odinotski v. Vazales, et al., No. 37-2015-00009254-CU-SL-CTL (Cal. Super. Ct., San Diego Cty., filed Mar. 18, 2015)

Smith v. Van Gorkom, 488 A.2d 858 (Del. 1985)

Young v. HealthPort Techs., Inc., 877 N.W.2d 124 (Iowa 2016)

Statutes

1987 Iowa Acts ch. 212, § 5

Iowa Code § 490.202(2)(d)(1)

Iowa Code § 490.831

Iowa Code § 490.861(1)

N.R.S. § 78.138(7)(b)(2)

Other Authorities

Chubb, *From Nuisance to Menace: The Rising Tide of Securities Class Action Litigation* (June 2019) (available at <https://www.chubb.com/content/dam/chubb-sites/chubb-com/us-en/about->

chubb/sca-litigation/documents/pdf/from-nuisance-to-menace--the-rising-tide-of-scas-ws.pdf)

Committee on Corporate Laws, *Changes in the Revised Model Business Corporation Act-Amendment Pertaining to the Liability of Directors*, 45 Bus. Law. 695 (1990)

James J. Hanks, Jr. and Larry P. Scriggins, *Protecting Directors and Officers from Liability--the Influence of the Model Business Corporation Act*, 56 Bus. Law. 3 (2000)

Model Business Corporations Act § 2.02(b)

Model Business Corporations Act § 2.02, off. cmt. 3.E (2017)

Model Business Corporations Act § 8.31, off. cmt. 1.A. (2017)

Stephen A. Radin, *Director Protection Statutes After Malpiede and Emerald Partners*, Insights, Vol. 16, No. 2, 10 (February 2002)

Bryn R. Vaaler, *2.02(b)(4) or Not 2.02(b)(4): That Is the Question*, 74 Law & Contemp. Probs. 79 (2011)

David S. Walker, *Updating the Iowa Business Corporation Act*, Iowa State Bar Association Annual Meeting, p. 16 (2002) (available at <http://205.209.45.153/iabar/CLEINDEX.nsf/2de34647064844cb862565330055898e/f9eb11b4d490345a86256cda005055d7?OpenDocument>).

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case presents substantial issues of first impression to this Court involving amendments to the Iowa Business Corporation Act (“IBCA”) governing fiduciary duty claims against directors of a publicly-traded Iowa corporation in the context of a corporate merger, including the effect of the Iowa Legislature’s adoption in 1989 of the “Constituency Statute,” Iowa Code § 490.1108A, on whether the case is derivative or direct, and the scope and applicability of the “Director Shield Statute,” Iowa Code § 490.202(2)(d)(1), adopted in 2002 to protect directors of Iowa corporations from the types of claims asserted in this case. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c). These fundamental issues are also of “broad public importance requiring prompt or ultimate determination by the supreme court.” Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(d).

This Court has accepted this interlocutory appeal in light of the substantial rights involved and the fact that the issues presented would be dispositive of the entire litigation, which would otherwise be uniquely expensive to the parties and wasteful of the Court’s resources. Accordingly, the Iowa Supreme Court should retain this case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

This case challenges one of the largest corporate transactions in Iowa history. In 2019, publicly-traded EMC Insurance Group, Inc. (“EMCI”) agreed to a “going-private” transaction in which its majority shareholder, Employers Mutual Casualty Company (“EMCC”), purchased EMCI’s outstanding public shares at a 50% premium for shareholders (the “Transaction”). EMCC insisted – and EMCI agreed – that the Transaction would not go forward unless it was negotiated and approved by a special committee of EMCI’s independent directors (the “Special Committee” or the “Independent Directors”) *and* was approved by a majority of EMCI’s minority shareholders (*i.e.*, excluding EMCC and its affiliated shareholders). After lengthy negotiations, EMCC and the Special Committee reached agreement on all deal terms, and the Transaction was overwhelmingly approved by EMCI’s minority shareholders.

After EMCI closed the Transaction (and paid Meade and other shareholders their *pro rata* share of the merger price), Kendall Meade, a single shareholder, sought a higher merger price. Instead of pursuing his appraisal rights available under the IBCA, Meade sued EMCI, its directors, and EMCC, alleging breaches of fiduciary duty. Meade styled his case (the “Petition” or

“Pet.”) as a direct class action, and sought to represent a class of all former EMCI shareholders except for defendants. App. 013, ¶ 28. Meade sought damages reflecting what he asserted was the difference between the actual value of EMCI and the amount that EMCC paid for EMCI. See App. 035, ¶ 92.

In so doing, Meade did not make prior demand on EMCI before filing derivative claims on behalf of the corporation, as required by Iowa Code § 490.742 and Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.279.

Disposition in the District Court

Defendants each moved to dismiss. In particular, the Independent Directors who composed the Special Committee moved to dismiss (“Motion to Dismiss”) on the grounds that (1) Meade’s claims for breach of fiduciary duty against the Independent Directors are derivative in nature; and (2) Meade failed to state a claim for breach of fiduciary duty because he had not pleaded facts showing (a) that EMCI’s articles of incorporation do not insulate the directors from liability under the “Director Shield Statute,” Iowa Code § 490.202(2)(d)(1); (b) that the directors were not shielded from liability under the IBCA’s “director conflicted interest transaction” provisions in Iowa Code § 490.861; and (c) that the business judgment rule did not apply under the conflict-avoidance procedure established by *Kahn v. M&F Worldwide*

Corp., 88 A.3d 635 (Del. 2014). The District Court dismissed all claims against EMCC, EMCI, and Bruce Kelley (a director and the CEO of each company), but denied the Independent Directors’ Motion to Dismiss. *See* Dec. 23, 2020 Order Re: Motions to Dismiss, Polk Cty. Dist. Ct. Case No. LACL146098 (“Order”) (App. 840-890).

The District Court concluded that Meade’s claims were “direct” under this Court’s precedent in *Cunningham v. Kartridg Pak Co.*, 332 N.W.2d 881 (Iowa 1983). The District Court concluded that (1) based on Meade’s allegations, EMCI’s minority shareholders “alone suffered the injury because there was no injury to EMCI,” and (2) they suffered a “separate and distinct injury” from EMCI’s majority shareholder, EMCC. App. 862.

At the same time, however, the District Court noted the “persuasive” authority in support of finding Meade’s claims to be derivative, and observed that no Iowa appellate courts have had the opportunity to examine the issue in the context of a merger transaction since the Iowa Legislature added its “Constituency Statute,” Iowa Code § 490.1108A, in 1989, after *Cunningham*. App. 861. As such, the District Court “believe[d] it is for the supreme court to determine whether amendments to the IBCA and/or the rationale [articulated by the Massachusetts Supreme Judicial Court in *Int’l Brotherhood*

of Elec. Workers Local No. 129 Benefit Fund v. Tucci, 70 N.E.3d 918, 926–27 (Mass. 2017)] result in a modification of the *Cunningham* rule.” App. 861.

The District Court also held that Meade was not required to affirmatively plead the inapplicability of the Director Shield Statute, and that, in any event, Meade had adequately plead an exception to the Director Shield by alleging that the Independent Directors “intentionally failed to act in the face of a known duty to act, demonstrating a conscious disregard for their duties.” App. 862-878.¹

On January 22, 2021, the Independent Directors sought interlocutory review of the District Court’s denial of their Motion to Dismiss, on those two grounds. On March 1, 2021, the Iowa Supreme Court granted the Independent Directors’ application for interlocutory review; the Court also stayed all further proceedings in the District Court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Until it went private by virtue of the Transaction, EMCI was one of the largest publicly-traded companies in Iowa, with a market capitalization of nearly \$750 million and a five-member board of accomplished directors consisting of four Independent Directors – Peter Christie, Stephen Crane,

¹ The District Court rejected the Independent Directors’ other bases for dismissal of the Petition. The Independent Directors have not sought interlocutory review of those holdings.

Jonathan Fletcher, and Gretchen Tegeler² – and Mr. Kelley, who served as CEO of both EMCI and EMCC. App. 011, ¶¶ 16–21; App. 841; App. 557-558.³

EMCI became publicly-traded in the 1980s, with EMCC as its majority shareholder. *See* App. 010-011, ¶¶ 14-15; App. 564.⁴ As of 2018, EMCC owned about 54% of the over twenty million outstanding shares of EMCI. *See* App. 440, 441, 445.

On November 15, 2018, EMCC offered to buy for \$30 per share the remainder of EMCI’s shares not already owned by EMCC. App. 016-017,

² Peter S. Christie previously served as a part of the executive management group at the St. Paul Companies, as Chairman and CEO of Minet Group, and as Deputy Chairman of AON Group Inc. Stephen A. Crane served as CEO of two insurance holding companies (Alpha Star Insurance Group and Gryphon Holdings, Inc.) and one reinsurance intermediary. Jonathan Fletcher was a registered investment advisor and trust officer. Gretchen H. Tegeler held leadership positions in government (including Chief of Staff to the Governor), a for-profit entity (Director of Business Development for a telecommunications company), and non-profit entities (most recently President of Taxpayers Association of Central Iowa). *See* App. 842.

³ The facts are drawn from the Petition and from documents Plaintiff agreed were subject to judicial notice and could be considered by the District Court on a motion to dismiss. App. 850-852.

⁴ Although EMCC reduced its percentage ownership of EMCI through subsequent stock offerings by EMCI over the years, EMCC always retained majority ownership of EMCI. App. 014-015, ¶ 31. EMCC’s status as a majority shareholder allowed EMCI to utilize EMCC’s “Excellent” financial strength rating from A.M. Best Company, Inc., which permitted EMCI to sell insurance to businesses requiring such a high rating from its insurers. App. 459, 467.

¶ 39; App. 461-463. In order to ensure that the process of negotiating and voting on the Transaction was fair to the minority shareholders, EMCC conditioned its offer on the adoption of what is known as the “*MFW*” framework – so named after the Delaware case that first endorsed it, *Kahn v. M&F Worldwide Corp.*, 88 A.3d 635 (Del. 2014). Under this framework, a controlling shareholder offering to buy out the minority shareholders follows a series of procedural safeguards to remove any actual or perceived conflicts of interest:

- (i) the approval of both a Special Committee and a majority of the minority stockholders; (ii) the Special Committee is independent; (iii) the Special Committee is empowered to freely select its own advisors and to say no definitively; (iv) the Special Committee meets its duty of care in negotiating a fair price; (v) the vote of the minority is informed; and (vi) there is no coercion of the minority.

Id. at 645. Under this framework, a negative vote by as few as 23% of EMCI’s public shareholders would thwart the Transaction.

Upon receipt of EMCC’s offer, the EMCI Board formed a Special Committee consisting of the four Independent Directors; Mr. Kelley recused himself from the process. App. 017, ¶ 40; App. 878-879. The Special Committee retained Willkie Farr & Gallagher LLP (“Willkie Farr”), a New York-based corporate law firm, as its independent counsel; and Sandler

O’Neill & Partners, L.P. (“Sandler”), a New York-based investment bank, as its financial adviser. App. 017, ¶ 41; App. 464.

Over the next five months, EMCI’s Special Committee (assisted by its counsel and its financial advisor) gathered “detailed information regarding the Company’s business, financial condition and actuarial and reserve matters” in order to negotiate with EMCC. App. 465, 468-475. Sandler prepared multiple valuation models for EMCI, and prepared various counteroffers to EMCC based on those models. App. 017, ¶¶ 41, 42; App. 018-019, ¶ 47; App. 021, ¶ 53; App. 029, ¶¶ 68, 69; App. 470-473.⁵ Ultimately, the two sides reached agreement on the value of the company as reflected in the share price to be offered EMCI’s minority shareholders (\$36 per share), subject to negotiation of a mutually-agreeable merger agreement (the “Merger Agreement”). App. 474.

The parties then spent weeks negotiating the 42-page Merger Agreement.⁶ Before finalizing its recommendation, the Special Committee

⁵ See also App. 715-839 (presentations to the Special Committee of the EMCI Board by Sandler, dated January 8, February 5, February 22, March 5, March 22, and May 8, 2019). These documents were accepted by the District Court as a matter of public record appropriately considered as part of the motion to dismiss. See App. 850-852; *supra*, n.3.

⁶ Among other sticking points were the scope of the representations and warranties; what constituted a “superior proposal” that could permit the Independent Directors to change their “yes” recommendation to shareholders;

obtained a written opinion from Sandler that the \$36 per share price was fair, from a financial point of view, to EMCI's minority shareholders. App. 645, 611.

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