No. 21-0098

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

### **KENDALL J. MEADE,**

INDIVIDUALLY AND ON BEHALF OF ALL OTHERS SIMILARLY SITUATED, Appellee,

v.

## PETER S. CHRISTIE, STEPHEN A. CRANE, JONATHAN R. FLETCHER AND GRETCHEN H. TEGELER,

Appellants.

ON APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY HONORABLE LAWRENCE MCLELLAN, DISTRICT COURT JUDGE

## FINAL BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

## **Gary Dickey**

DICKEY, CAMPBELL, & SAHAG LAW FIRM, PLC 301 East Walnut St., Ste. 1 Des Moines, Iowa 50309 PHONE: (515) 288-5008 FAX: (515) 288-5010 gary@iowajustice.com Counsel for Appellee

## Juan Monteverde

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

### ARGUMENT

The District Court correctly found Plaintiff had standing to bring direct claims against the Director Defendants for knowingly, willfully, and intentionally breaching their fiduciary duties to EMCI's public shareholders by negotiating and endorsing a merger that they knew undervalued EMCI. As the District Court explained, their failure to negotiate adequate consideration for EMCI's public minority shareholders did not in any way harm EMCI or its majority shareholder EMCC. (App. at 862).

The District Court also correctly found the Director Defendants were not entitled to dismissal based on an Exculpation Defense because (i) exculpation is an affirmative defense, and (ii) the Petition sufficiently pled that the Director Defendants "engaged in an intentional infliction of harm on the shareholders" by negotiating and endorsing the Merger in spite of their actual knowledge that it undervalued the public shareholders' stake in EMCI. (App. at 871-872).

Because the District Court correctly decided the issues raised in this interlocutory appeal, the case should be remanded to the District Court with instructions to proceed to discovery and trial.

I. The District Court correctly held that a shareholder may bring a direct action against a director who endorses a merger and disseminates a misleading proxy with actual knowledge that the merger undervalues the company.

## Preservation of Error

Plaintiff agrees that Director Defendants have preserve error.

## Standard of Review

The standard of review for a district court's ruling on a motion to dismiss for lack of standing is for errors of law. *Hawkeye Foodservice Distrib. v. Iowa Educators Corp.*, 812 N.W.2d 600, 604 (Iowa 2012). The Court accepts the facts alleged in the petition as true and must allow the case to proceed unless "the petition shows no right of recovery under any state of facts." *Id.* (quoting *Southard v. Visa U.S.A., Inc.*, 734 N.W.2d 192, 194 (Iowa 2007)). "If the viability of the claim is at all debatable, courts should not sustain a motion to dismiss." *Southard*, 734 N.W.2d at 194 (quoting *Munzingo v. St. Luke's Hosp.*, 518 N.W.2d 776, 777 (Iowa 1994)).

# A. A shareholder has standing to bring a direct action against a director who endorses a merger and authorizes the filing of a misleading proxy with actual knowledge that the merger undervalues the company.

The Petition asserts direct claims that the Director Defendants breached the fiduciary duties they owed to EMCI's public shareholders. (App. at 34-35). It is well-established that directors of an Iowa corporation "owe[] a fiduciary duty to the company *and its shareholders.*" *See, e.g., Cookies Food Products, Inc. v. Lakes Warehouse Distributing, Inc.*, 430 N.W.2d 447, 451 (Iowa 1988). These duties, commonly referred to as the duty of care and the duty of loyalty, require corporate directors to exercise due and appropriate care in managing corporate affairs and to discharge their duties in good faith and the best interests of the corporation and its shareholders. (App. at 863-865); see also Cookies, 430 N.W.2d at 451.

The general rule in Iowa and throughout the country is that "as a matter of corporate law, shareholders have no claim for injuries to their corporations by third parties unless within the context of a derivative action." *Rieff*, 630 N.W.2d at 293. However, Iowa jurisprudence accords with the "well-recognized exception" that a

shareholder has standing to bring a direct claim if the shareholder alleges that the defendant "owed him a special duty *or* that he suffered an injury separate and distinct from that suffered by the other shareholders." *Id.* at 294; *see Cunningham*, 332 N.W.2d at 883; *Ezzone v. Riccardi*, 525 N.W.2d 388, 394-95 (Iowa 1994) (quoting 13A William M. Fletcher, *Fletcher Cyclopedia of the Law of Private Corporations* § 5921, at 519 (rev. ed. 1954)).

# 1. Claims alleging that a corporate director negotiated a merger or obtained shareholder approval of a merger in bad faith are direct claims that fall within the long-recognized exception to the general rule.

Considering this well-recognized exception, the Iowa Court of Appeals has explained that lawsuits based on "mismanagement that depresses the value of stock are derivative" but "suits directly attacking the fairness or validity of a merger are direct." *Kelly*, 2001 Iowa App. LEXIS 500 at \*30. The Delaware rule has been adopted by courts throughout the United States. *Parnes*, 722 A.2d at 1245 ("In order to state a direct claim with respect to a merger, a stockholder must challenge the validity of the merger itself, usually by charging the directors with breaches of fiduciary duty resulting in unfair dealing and/or unfair price."); *see also Tooley v. Donaldson, Lufkin & Jenrette, Inc.*, 845 A.2d 1031, 1033 (Del. 2004).<sup>9</sup> The rule is

See, e.g., Lusk v. Life Time Fitness, Inc., 213 F. Supp. 3d 1119, 1134-35 (D. Minn. 2016); Keller v. Estate of McRedmond, 495 S.W.3d 852, 876-77 (Tenn. 2016); Shenker v. Laureate Educ., Inc., 983 A.2d 408, 422 (Md. 2009); Cohen v. Mirage Resorts, Inc., 62 P.3d 720, 732 (Nev. 2003); Yudell v. Gilbert, 99 A.D.3d

grounded in the same factors that this Court considered in *Rieff* and *Cunningham*. *Id.* at 1033, 1039 ("[t]he proper analysis has been and should remain that stated" in *Parnes*, with the outcome turning "*solely* on the following questions: (1) who suffered the alleged harm (the corporation or the suing stockholders, individually); and (2) who would receive the benefit of any recovery or other remedy (the corporation or the stockholders, individually)?"); *cf. Rieff*, 630 N.W.2d at 294-95.

Whether a special application of the special duty or distinct injury test discussed in *Rieff* or a separate test, the "*Parnes*" test that the Iowa Court of Appeals used in *Kelly* is applicable here. Mismanagement outside the merger context affects the corporation directly and shareholders only indirectly, but a merger that undercompensates shareholders for their own personal property (their shares) harms them directly. *See, e.g., Cohen*, 62 P.3d 720 at 732 ("The shareholder has lost unique personal property—his or her interest in a specific corporation."). In other words:

it is clear that, here, the injury alleged, namely, a lesser value that shareholders received for their shares in the cash-out merger, is an injury suffered solely by the shareholders and not by Laureate as a corporate entity. Such an injury, if suffered, is a direct one, separate from any injury suffered by the corporation, thus allowing Petitioners

<sup>108, 110 (</sup>N.Y. App. Div. 2012); *Moore v. Macquarie Infrastructure Real Assets*, 258 So.3d 750, 756 (La. App. 3 Cir. 2017); *Elloway v. Pate*, 238 S.W.3d 882, 900-01 (Tex. Ct. App. 2007); *Rael v. Page*, 222 P.3d 678, 683 (N.M. Ct. App. 2009); *Lightner v. Lightner*, 266 P.3d 539, 545 (Kan. Ct. App. 2011); *Rupp v. Thompson*, 2004 Minn. Dist. LEXIS 16, at \*6-8 (Minn. Lyon Cnty. Dist. Ct. Mar. 16, 2004) (interpreting Colorado law).

to proceed with their direct action against Board Respondents. A higher or lower price received by shareholders for their shares in the cash-out merger in no way implicated Laureate's interests and causes no harm to the corporation.

Shenker, 983 A.2d at 425.

# 2. The District Court properly applied the special injury or duty test and correctly found that the claims in this case were direct and not derivative.

The District Court understood the Parnes rule properly accounts for the fact

that an unfair merger harms the shareholders without meaningfully affecting the

corporation:

This is a situation where Meade contends he and other similarly situated suffered an injury separate and distinct from that suffered by the majority shareholder, EMCC. There was no injury to the corporation due to the nature of the merger. EMCI went from being a public corporation with the majority of its shares owned by EMCC to a private corporation with EMCC owning all of the shares of the corporation.

(App. at 860-861). The District Court is correct. An acquired corporation's "status would change from existing as a corporation to no longer existing in the same capacity because of the merger, regardless of the price paid" so, when there is an inadequate price, the shareholders suffer but there is "no meaningful difference to the corporation." *Moore*, 258 So.3d at 757. The Delaware rule also accords with common-sense: a "claim that arose via the non-voluntary termination of the Plaintiff's stock ownership cannot, as a matter of logic or equity, adhere in the stock

so taken." *I.A.T.S.E. Local No. One Pension Fund v. GE*, 2016 Del. Ch. LEXIS 184 at \*17 (Del. Ch. Dec. 6, 2016).

Thus, under analogous circumstances in *Rieff*, this Court found that a mutual company's policyholders had a direct cause of action against the directors of a mutual company for breaching their fiduciary duties by orchestrating a *de facto* demutualization that terminated the policyholders' interest in the mutual company without providing adequate disclosure or compensation:

If a mutual company would like to demutualize, it must follow statutory steps to that end. *See* Iowa Code ch. 515G. Some of those steps include providing notice and a vote in this decision to its policyholders. *Id.* §§ 515G.4, .6. Additionally, the policyholders will then receive some form of payout from this approved conversion, *e.g.*, through stock offers or dividends. *Id.* § 515G.3. These steps are not discretionary, but required. With an affirmative responsibility to disclose its intentions and seek approval from policyholders, as well as compensate them upon conversion, this creates a special duty not ordinarily cognizable between a mutual corporation and its policyholders.

We have recognized that when a special duty is present, the shareholders suffer a harm not suffered by the corporation itself and have an individual action against the corporation. When there exists a special duty to the shareholder, outside of duties to the corporation, breach of that duty individually harms the shareholder and suit may be brought in that capacity. To this end, plaintiffs argue the interference with contract was specifically directed at them, not the corporation. Because of this, they claim to possess their own action.

We agree.

*Rieff*, 630 N.W.2d at 294.

The special duties for demutualization in *Rieff* are analogous to the statutory steps and requirements for a corporate merger. *Compare* Iowa Code § 515G.6 (demutualization) ("the plan of conversion shall be submitted to and shall not take effect until approved by two-thirds of the policyholders") *with* Iowa Code § 490.1104(2)(a) (merger) ("the board of directors must submit the plan to the shareholders for their approval" and "must also transmit to the shareholders a recommendation that the shareholders approve the plan").

As this Court has explained: "A fiduciary relation exists between two persons when one of them is under a duty to act for or to give advice for the benefit of another upon matters within the scope of the relation." Kurth v. Van Horn, 380 N.W.2d 693, 695 (Iowa 1986) (citing Restatement (Second) Torts § 874 cmt. A, at 300 (1979)); see also Weltzin v. Cobank, ACB, 633 N.W.2d 290, 294 (Iowa 2001) (quoting *Kurth*). Thus, submitting a "recommendation" to minority shareholders implicates a special fiduciary duty "to disclose with entire candor all material facts concerning the merger, so that the minority shareholders would be able to make an informed decision[.]" McMullin v. Beran, 765 A.2d 910, 917 (Del. 2000); Casey v. Brennan, 780 A.2d 553, 569 (N.J. Super. Ct. 2001) ("Since implied in the concept of fair dealing is the duty of candor, it follows that the directors do not properly discharge their obligations when the proxy statement is false, misleading, and inaccurate."); see also Mitchellville Coop v. Indian Creek Corp., 469 N.W.2d 258, 263 (Iowa Ct.

App. 1991) ("As fiduciaries, the directors owe a duty to disclose information to those who have a right to know the facts.") (citing *Rowen v. Le Mars Mutual Insurance Co.*, 282 N.W.2d 639, 649 (Iowa 1979)). Indeed, the special fiduciary duty to disclose the demutualization plan and fairly compensate policyholders that this Court found attached in *Rieff* is analogous to the Director Defendants' special fiduciary duty to disclose the plan of merger and fairly compensate shareholders. *See* Iowa Code §§ 490.1104(2)(a), 515G.6. As in *Rieff*, EMCI's shareholders have standing to bring a direct action against the Director Defendants for breaching those fiduciary duties.

# 3. The United States Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit agreed with the District Court that this Action is direct and not derivative.

In fact, the United States Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit recently explained that claims based on the termination of shares pursuant to this very Merger would be analogous to the termination of ownership in *Rieff. Shepard v. Emplrs. Mut. Cas. Co.*, 998 F.3d 330, 337 (8th Cir. 2021). The Director Defendants themselves acknowledge that the decision in *Shepard* "weighed in on this issue, involving this very Transaction." (Def.'s Br. at 36) (citing *Shepard*).

The *Shepard* decision is instructive. In *Shepard*, the Eighth Circuit affirmed the federal district court's finding that the claims were derivative specifically because the plaintiff *did not* attack the merger itself. *Id.* at 335 (explaining the plaintiff alleged the defendants "breached their fiduciary duties '*in the years leading up to the Squeeze-Out*.'"); *see also Shepard v. Emplrs. Mut. Cas. Co.*, 476 F. Supp. 3d 862, 876 (S.D. Iowa 2020) (finding that there was no special duty because "Shepard has represented that his claim *is not related to the merger* ... but to failure to enhance the value of EMCI *in the years prior to the merger*.").

Although the Director Defendants inconspicuously relegate it to a single footnote, the Eighth Circuit provided extensive analysis *agreeing* with the District Court in this case, as follows:

[T]he *Meade* court repeatedly distinguished that case from Shepard's claim. The court emphasized that unlike Shepard, "Meade is not asserting a claim that the defendants mismanaged EMCI causing the stock to be undervalued." *Id.* at 23. While the shareholders' allegations in *Meade* were based on the squeeze out and inadequate purchase price, Shepard "alleged mismanagement by the defendants *prior to* the going-private transaction, which resulted in depressing the value of EMCI's stock." *Id.* (emphasis added). "Shepard was seeking recovery for an injury to the corporation, that was shared indirectly by the shareholders, which did not meet the separate and distinct injury test." *Id.* In *Meade*, in the merger context, the injury was not shared by EMCI. *See Id.* 

Shepard, 998 F.3d at 338 (emphasis in italics in original, bold added); (Def.'s Am.

Br. at 37 n.11). The Eighth Circuit also correctly distinguished *Shepard* from *Reiff*, explaining Shepard's claims were based on mismanagement that depreciated the value of his shares in the company in the years leading up to the merger, whereas the plaintiffs in *Rieff* – as here – had their ownership in the company terminated outright. *Id.* at 337 ("Unlike the termination of shareholder rights in a

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